
 

From: Democratic Services Unit – any further information may be obtained from the reporting 
officer or from Charlotte Forrest, Democratic Services on charlotte.forrest@tameside.gov.uk or 
0161 342 2346, to whom any apologies for absence should be notified. 

 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 
 

Day: Monday 
Date: 29 June 2020 
Time: 1.00 pm 
Place: Zoom 

 

Item 
No. 

AGENDA Page 
No 

1.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   

 To receive any apologies from Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board.  

2.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   

 To receive any declarations of interest from Members of the Health and 
Wellbeing Board. 

 

3.   MINUTES  1 - 4 

 To receive the Minutes of the meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board held 
on 5 March 2020. 

 

4.   LOCAL OUTBREAK CONTROL PLAN  5 - 58 

 To consider a report from the Director of Population Health.  

5.   URGENT ITEMS   

 To consider any additional items the Chair is of the opinion shall be dealt with 
as a matter of urgency. 

 

Public Document Pack



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 
 

5 March 2020 
 
Commenced: 10.05 am  

 

Terminated: 11.40 am 

Present: Councillors Warrington (Chair) - Executive Leader 
Councillor Wills - Executive Member for Adult Social Care and 
Population Health 
Councillor Cooney - Executive Member for Housing, Planning and 
Employment 
Shaun Higgins - Active Tameside 
Jane Higham - Greater Manchester Police 
Jeanelle De Gruchy - Director of Population Health 
Richard Hancock - Director of Children's Services 
Liz Windsor-Welsh - Chief Executive, Action Together 
Vivien Robinson - Department for Work and Pensions 
Karen James - Chief Executive, Tameside and Glossop ICFT 
Steven Pleasant - Chief Executive, Tameside MBC and Accountable 
Officer, Tameside and Glossop CCG  
Andrew Searle - Independent Chair, Tameside Adult Safeguarding 
Partnership Board 
 

In Attendance: Jayne Traverse - Director of Growth  
 Gregg Stott - Interim Assistant Director, Development and 

Investment 
David Berry - Head of Employment and Skills 
James Mallion - Consultant Public Health 
Martin Ashton - Assistant Director of Commissioning, Living Well 

 
Apologies for Absence: Councillor Fairfoull - Deputy Leader & Executive Member for 

Children’s Services 
Stephanie Butterworth - Director of Adult Services 
Kerrie Pryde - Jigsaw Homes 
Henri Giller - Independent Chair, Tameside Child Safeguarding 

 
 
21  
 

 
 
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 

There were no declarations of interest submitted by Members of the Board.  
 
 
22   
 

MINUTES  
 

RESOLVED 
That the minutes of the meeting held on 23 January 2020 be approved as a correct record. 
 
 
23   
 

GROWTH PRIORITIES FOR TAMESIDE  
 

Consideration was given to a presentation of the Director of Growth outlining the growth priorities 
for Tameside and their impact upon health and wellbeing within the Borough.  
 
Members were informed that there were a number of projects being undertaken, including the 
development of strategic sites for housing and employment and the regeneration of the Borough’s 
town centres.  The four strategic sites earmarked for development were Godley Green, Ashton 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3.



 
 

 
 

Moss, St Petersfield and Hattersley.  It was explained that the Godley Green and Ashton Moss 
sites were currently designated as greenbelt land but the sites were among a number across 
Greater Manchester to be released for the delivery of much needed housing and job creation.  It 
was intended that the Godley Green scheme would become a twenty first century ‘garden village’, 
rather than a conventional housing development, delivering up to 2350 homes by 2035.  Members 
enquired about the impact upon health and transport services as well as schools from such 
developments.  It was explained that developer contributions from S106 money in Tameside were 
currently focused on education and transport provision but the Council could opt to revise its policy 
to include health services as well.  
 
In order to address the deficiency in employment sites across Tameside and Greater Manchester, 
Ashton Moss and St Petersfield had been earmarked for development.  The Ashton Moss site, 
currently in private ownership, was the biggest such site and was viewed as one of the best areas 
in Greater Manchester because of its excellent transport links.  Nearby land at St Petersfield, all 
within the Council’s ownership had the potential to create an additional 1900 jobs generating 
approximately £1.75 million in business rates income.  It was hoped that the proximity of both sites 
to Ashton town centre would enable the creation of a ‘growth corridor’.  
 
A number of town centre regeneration schemes across the Borough were also highlighted as part 
of the Council’s efforts to repurpose town centres and improve transport and connectivity.  The 
largest programme was the redevelopment of Hyde town centre that included plans to modernise 
the market offer; develop the Hyde library site; provide infrastructure for population growth; and 
improve the pedestrian experience.  The Director of Growth informed Members that £100,000 of 
funding had been secured to enable planning and that community consultation would be 
undertaken in due course.  
 
A discussion ensued regarding the success of the recently opened Denton Wellness Centre.  The 
Centre marked a design shift from a traditional leisure offer to a more expansive 
wellness/health/cultural/active play offer.  Members were informed that the Centre had opened one 
month ahead of schedule and that over 1000 new members had joined in the first three days since 
opening.  It was expected that the new facility would contribute to a reduction in levels of physical 
inactivity in the Borough, support individuals experiencing social isolation and make health support 
more accessible to the community.  Members expressed their enthusiasm for the new facilities and 
commended the centre for being both autism and dementia friendly. 
 
RESOLVED 
That the content of the presentation be noted. 
 
 
24   
 

TAMESIDE HOUSING STRATEGY 2020-25  
 

Consideration was given to a presentation of the Director of Growth, outlining the development of a 
Housing Strategy for Tameside and associated Housing Delivery Plan.  
 
The Housing Strategy and Housing Delivery Plan were designed to implement and deliver on 
priority action areas and outcomes within the Corporate Plan.  It was explained that housing was a 
crucial part of Tameside’s future and that good quality homes were essential to give children the 
best start in life and to allow individuals to live independently and in good health into old age. 
Homes also had the power to drive and support the growth of the Borough attracting people to live 
and work in the area.  Whilst the median house price across Tameside had increased by 133% 
since 2000, the Borough still remained an affordable place in comparison to other local authority 
areas. 
 
Members were informed that a housing needs assessment had been conducted from December 
2017 and that six strategic priorities for action had been identified:- 
 

 Population Growth and New Housing Supply; 

Page 2



 
 

 
 

 Delivering for an Ageing Population; 

 A Range of Affordable Housing; 

 Specialist and Supported Housing; 

 Improving Standards in the Private Rented Sector; and 

 Reducing Homelessness and Rough Sleeping. 
 
The Council had significant land assets to deliver and were working with private sector housing 
providers to maximise the number of affordable homes delivered whilst also ensuring their 
environmental sustainability and providing accessible public transport.  
 
A discussion ensued regarding homelessness and the importance of ensuring suitable housing for 
those with particular needs.  Members were pleased to note the work of the Council in relation to 
homelessness and the success there had been in moving those individuals affected into a more 
stable situation.  The housing needs of those suffering from domestic abuse were also raised and 
Members were advised that a strategic domestic abuse lead had recently been appointed with 
experience of working with housing providers.  Supported housing had a crucial role to play in 
helping domestic abuse victims.  It was hoped that the wrap around support provided to the 
homeless could also be adopted in relation to domestic abuse victims. 
 
RESOLVED 
That the content of the presentation be noted. 
 
 
25   
 

HEALTH, EMPLOYMENT AND SKILLS  
 

Consideration was given to a report of the Head of Employment and Skills, providing Members with 
an update on the integration of employment, skills and health services.  
 
The Head of Employment and Skills advised that 64,000 people within the Borough were living with 
a long term condition, half of whom were in employment.  The Borough had just over 10,000 
people out of work, 8.7% of the population, and around 5,000 of those individuals were out of work 
because of a range of mental health issues including anxiety, depression and behavioural 
disorders.  Mental health problems were a particular issue among those under the age of 34.  
Members were informed that the Tameside Employment and Skills service was there to ensure 
that everybody able work could be supported into work.  As part of this commitment, £55,000 per 
annum had been invested in two employment coaches to support local residents with mental 
health conditions.   
 
Members were advised of a number of other successes across Tameside and Greater Manchester 
in integrating health, employment and skills including:- 
 

 Design and development ongoing with Pennine Care and TMBC Routes to Work to 
commission an Employment Coach in the Early Intervention Psychosis Team. 

 A £140,000, two year investment in the TMBC Employment and Skills Team to deliver 
activity for unemployed and in-work residents. 

 A continued drive between the Greater Manchester Combined Authority and Greater 
Manchester Health and Social Care Partnership to develop a programme of devolution 
work. 

 The award of the GM Specialist Employment Service contract to support residents with a 
disability or severe mental health condition.  

 
An overview of the work of the multi-agency Health and Employment Strategy Group (HESG) was 
given and Members were informed that the group had performed strongly in the last 18 months. 
There had been particular success in influencing commissioning to provide more health and 
employment services and it was hoped there would be a move to larger scale provision.  The 

Page 3



 
 

 
 

Group’s proposed action plan for 2020/21 was also outlined with emphasis upon a more person-
centred, holistic approach toward health and employment.  
 
Members commended the work that had been undertaken, particularly in relation to mental health, 
and the ongoing support provided for young people to access training and employment. 
 
RESOLVED 
i. That the Board note the employment initiatives taking place in Tameside and Greater 

Manchester and the work undertaken to integrate employment, skills and health 
services. 

ii. That Members support the delivery of the Health and Employment Plan 2020/21. 
 

 
CHAIR 

 
 
  
 

Page 4



 
 

Report to:  HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 

Date: 29 June 2020 

Reporting Member / 
Officer: 

Councillor Wills - Executive Member for Health, Social Care and 
Population Health 

Dr Jeanelle de Gruchy - Director of Population Health 

Subject: LOCAL OUTBREAK CONTROL PLAN 

Report Summary: 
 
 

The Local Outbreak Control plan for Tameside provides a 
summary of the principles of Covid-19 outbreak management 
across Tameside including an outline of the key roles and 
responsibilities across the system, the mechanisms and 
infrastructure in place to deliver this, and appropriate routes of 
accountability. 
 
This is a high level summary of the approach to managing and 
preventing the spread of Covid-19 in Tameside, which will allow 
our residents and communities to safely live with Covid-19 during 
the current phase of the pandemic.  It includes sections on how 
our approach aligns to national and regional systems, including 
integration with the Greater Manchester Outbreak Control Plan, 
which is also in development; detail of the approaches we are 
taking to prevent outbreaks; and a description of the systems and 
steps in place to effectively manage outbreaks that may occur 
across our population. 
 
This is an iterative plan, which will continue to be informed by local 
circumstances, intelligence, evidence and on-going engagement 
with our communities. 

Recommendations: That the Health and Wellbeing Board approve the content of this 
plan. 

Corporate Plan: The Outbreak Control Plan describes how we will manage and 
control Covid-19 in the current phase of the pandemic and will be 
crucial in enabling our communities to live with Covid-19.  
Providing this safe approach will be crucial in supporting the 
system across Tameside and Glossop to deliver against the 
corporate plan priorities, particularly considering those residents 
who are more vulnerable to the impacts of Covid-19 (Nurturing 
Communities and Longer & Healthier Lives). 

Policy Implications: This is a key strategic plan, which will inform and enable wider 
policy across the Council as to the steps we take to protect lives 
and safely ease lockdown.  

Financial Implications: 
(Authorised by the 
statutory Section 151 
Officer & Chief Finance 
Officer) 

The Council and CCG have received additional funding to support 
the outbreak of Covid-19.  This includes £13.9 million allocated to 
the Council together with an indicative £6.2 million allocated to the 
CCG.  However, it should be noted that current forecasts suggest 
this funding will be insufficient to support the related additional 
costs and reduced levels of budgeted income. 

In addition the Council has been allocated £2.1 million relating to 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4.



 
 

Infection Control, 75% of which has to be distributed to care home 
providers in the borough to support related measures.  The 
government have also recently allocated a ring-fenced test and 
trace grant of £1.4 million to the Council. 
 
Members are requested to note these allocations as additional 
government funding that will support the local outbreak control 
plan. 

Legal Implications:   
(Authorised by the 
Borough Solicitor) 

The legal context for managing outbreaks of communicable 
disease, which present a risk to the health of the public requiring 
urgent investigation and management sits:- 

• With Public Health England under the Health and Social Care Act 
2012  

• With Directors of Public Health under the Health and Social Care 
Act 2012  

• With Chief Environmental Health Officers under the Public Health 
(Control of Disease) Act 1984  

• With NHS Clinical Commissioning Groups to collaborate with 
Directors of Public Health and Public Health England to take local 
action (e.g. testing and treating) to assist the management of 
outbreaks under the Health and Social Care Act 2012  

• With other responders’ specific responsibilities to respond to 
major incidents as part of the Civil Contingencies Act 2004  

• In the context of COVID-19 there is also the Coronavirus Act 
2020.  
 
This underpinning context gives local authorities (public health and 
environmental health) and Public Health England the primary 
responsibility for the delivery and management of public health 
actions to be taken in relation to outbreaks of communicable 
disease through local Health Protection Partnerships.  These 
arrangements are clarified in the 2013 guidance Health Protection 
in Local Government.   

PHE is mandated to fulfil the Secretary of State’s duty to protect 
the public’s health from infectious diseases, working with the NHS, 
local government and other partners.  This includes providing 
surveillance; specialist services, such as diagnostic and reference 
microbiology; investigation and management of outbreaks of 
infectious diseases; ensuring effective emergency preparedness, 
resilience and response for health emergencies.  At a local level 
PHE’s health protection teams and field services work in 
partnership with DsPH, playing strategic and operational 
leadership roles both in the development and implementation of 
outbreak control plans and in the identification and management of 
outbreaks.  

The Director of Public Health has and retains primary responsibility 
for the health of their communities.  This includes being assured 
that the arrangements to protect the health of the communities that 
they serve are robust and are implemented.  The primary 
foundation of developing and deploying local outbreak 
management plans is the public health expertise of the local 
Director of Public Health.  

Page 6



 
 

This report is intended to provide Members with a comprehensive 
overview of the response to Covid-19 locally with particular regard 
to The Government’s four key strands of test, trace, contain and 
enable to tackling Covid-19. 
 
A number of the actions in the plan will require their own 
governance and decision making through Strategic 
Commissioning Board and it is recommended that regular reports 
are taken so clearly sighted on where focus needs to be.  This will 
be particularly important given the budgetary pressures as set out 
in the financial implications and detailed legal implications will be 
included for Members’ consideration at that time.  

Risk Management: The challenges posed by Covid-19 present significant risks to the 
Council and this plan is a mechanism via which we will mitigate 
direct risks of Covid-19 infection and transmission.  This plan 
outlines the key steps and functions that will ensure emerging risks 
in the form of outbreaks in the local area are quickly identified, risk 
assessed and acted upon. 

Background Information: The background papers relating to this report can be inspected by 
contacting James Mallion, Consultant in Public Health, Population 
Health:- 

Telephone: 07970 946485 

e-mail: james.mallion@tameside.gov.uk  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 7

mailto:james.mallion@tameside.gov.uk


 
 

1. INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 This plan provides a summary of the principles of Covid-19 outbreak management across 

Tameside including an outline of the key roles and responsibilities across the system, the 
mechanisms and infrastructure in place to deliver this and appropriate routes of 
accountability.  
 

1.2 It is a high level summary of the approach to managing and preventing the spread of Covid-
19 in Tameside, which will allow our residents and communities to safely live with Covid-19 
during the current phase of the pandemic.  The detail of how individual outbreaks in specific 
settings and circumstances will be managed may be referenced but will not be described in 
detail in this document.  

 
1.3 This is an iterative plan, which will continue to be informed by local circumstances, 

intelligence, evidence and on-going engagement with our communities. 
 
 
2. KEY AIMS OF THE OUTBREAK CONTROL PLAN 
 
2.1 Prevent spread of Covid-19 and contain and suppress outbreaks. 

 
2.2 Early identification of and management of outbreaks. 
 
2.3 Define governance, roles and responsibilities and command and control arrangements 

relating to Covid-19 management. 
 
2.4 Set out communications and engagement arrangements with partner organisations and 

residents. 
 
2.5 Outline how the impact of outbreaks will be mitigated for residents. 
 
2.6 Outline the approach to surveillance using data and other sources of information to monitor 

the extent and impact of Covid-19 infection across Tameside. 
 
2.7 Where possible incorporate Covid-19 response into existing structures and ways of 

working. 
 
 
3. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
3.1 As set out at the front of the report. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 8



 
 

 
 
 
 

 
TAMESIDE COVID OUTBREAK CONTROL PLAN 

Contents 

CHAPTER 1 ................................................................................................................................... 7 

INTRODUCTION ............................................................................................................................ 7 

1. Purpose .................................................................................................................................. 7 

2. Aims ........................................................................................................................................ 7 

3. Guiding Principles ................................................................................................................. 7 

4. National Approach ................................................................................................................. 8 

5. Seven Key Themes to Managing & Controlling Covid-19 ................................................... 8 

6. Greater Manchester Covid-19 Outbreak Control Plan ......................................................... 9 

- ...................................................................................................................................................... 9 

CHAPTER 2 ................................................................................................................................. 10 

LIVING WITH COVID ................................................................................................................... 10 

Preventing Outbreaks ................................................................................................................. 10 

1. Communicating ................................................................................................................ 10 

With Residents ..................................................................................................................... 10 

With Partners ....................................................................................................................... 11 

With Local Employers and Businesses .............................................................................. 11 

2. Engaging with Communities ........................................................................................... 11 

3. Local Testing Capacity .................................................................................................... 12 

4. Contact Tracing ................................................................................................................... 13 

5. Infection control processes ............................................................................................. 15 

6. PPE Management ............................................................................................................. 15 

7. Consequence Management ............................................................................................. 15 

Organisational Consequences ............................................................................................ 15 

Consequences for Individuals ............................................................................................ 15 

8. Data Integration ................................................................................................................... 16 

Additional Information ......................................................................................................... 17 

9. High Risk Settings & Groups .............................................................................................. 17 

Support for vulnerable individuals ..................................................................................... 17 

Support for high risk settings ............................................................................................. 17 

Compliance and enforcement .................................................................................................... 19 

CHAPTER 3 ................................................................................................................................. 20 

RESPONSE .................................................................................................................................. 20 

1. Defining an outbreak ........................................................................................................... 20 

2. Governance / Command & Control Arrangements ............................................................ 20 

Page 9



 
 

3. Managing an Outbreak - Key Roles and Responsibilities ................................................. 21 

Hours of Operation .............................................................................................................. 23 

Other Outbreak Management Considerations ................................................................... 24 

Communications during a specific outbreak ..................................................................... 24 

Media and Political Impact .................................................................................................. 24 

Managing Delivery ............................................................................................................... 24 

APPENDICES .............................................................................................................................. 25 

Appendix 1 - Outbreak Definitions ......................................................................................... 25 

Appendix 2 – Functions and details of the Tameside Covid-19 Single Point of Contact ... 28 

Appendix 3 – Terms of Reference of key groups as part of Covid-19 Outbreak Control 
Plan governance ...................................................................................................................... 30 

Appendix 4 – Links to relevant national guidance and operating procedures for specific 
settings .................................................................................................................................... 30 

Appendix 5 – Key Contacts .................................................................................................... 31 

Appendix 6 – Other Supporting Documents .......................................................................... 33 

 

 

  

Page 10



 
 

CHAPTER 1 
 

INTRODUCTION 

1. Purpose 

This document provides a summary of the principles of Covid-19 outbreak management across 

Tameside including an outline of the key roles and responsibilities across the system, the 

mechanisms & infrastructure in place to deliver this, and appropriate routes of accountability.  

It is a high level summary of the approach to managing and preventing the spread of Covid-19 in 

Tameside, which will allow our residents and communities to safely live with Covid-19 during the 

current phase of the pandemic. The detail of how individual outbreaks in specific settings and 

circumstances will be managed may be referenced but will not be described in detail in this 

document.  

This is an iterative plan which will continue to be informed by local circumstances; intelligence; 

evidence; and ongoing engagement with our communities. 

 

2. Aims  

1. Prevent spread of Covid-19 and contain and suppress outbreaks. 

2. Early identification of and management of outbreaks 

3. Define governance, roles and responsibilities and command & control arrangements 

relating to Covid-19 management 

4. Set out communications and engagement arrangements with partner organisations and 

residents 

5. Outline how the impact of outbreaks will be mitigated for residents 

6. Outline the approach to surveillance using data and other sources of information to monitor 

the extent and impact of Covid-19 infection across Tameside 

7. Where possible incorporate Covid-19 response into existing structures and ways of working  

 

3. Guiding Principles 

The Association of Directors of Public Health (ADPH) sets out four principles for the design and 
operation of Local Outbreak Plans. 
 
The prevention and management of the transmission of COVID-19 should:  
 
1. Be rooted in public health systems and leadership  
2. Adopt a whole system approach  
3. Be delivered through an efficient and locally effective and responsive system including being 
informed by timely access to data and intelligence  
4. Be sufficiently resourced  
 
The circle of health protection action below underpins how our approach to health protection and 
outbreaks are managed. As such this will be a live document that is under constant review as the 
response to Covid-19 is improved and based on our growing understanding informed by local 
circumstances; intelligence; evidence; and ongoing engagement with our communities. It is also 
important to note that as our local learning improves based on how the system responds to 
complex, bespoke situations, approaches will be adapted and updated to incorporate this learning.  

Page 11



 
 

 

4. National Approach 

The UK Government has set out four key strands to the national approach to tackling Covid-19: 

test; trace; contain; and enable. The intention is for this to form a continuous data capture and 

information loop at each stage that flows through the Joint Biosecurity Centre to recommend 

actions. The local planning and response will be key to the success of this system, with local 

government having a key role to play in identification and management to contain the spread of 

infection. This plan outlines how the wider system in Tameside will achieve this.  

 

 

5. Seven Key Themes to Managing & Controlling Covid-19 

The following seven key themes have been identified nationally as key priorities on which to focus 

our local work to manage and control Covid-19. These are based on the priority areas and actions 

we need to focus on based on the wider experience of the pandemic to date, and also highlight the 

key mechanisms through which to deliver on these priorities including data; testing; and 

engagement.  

1) Care homes and schools  

Planning for local outbreaks in care homes and schools (e.g. defining monitoring 

arrangements, identifying potential scenarios and planning the required response).  

2) High risk places, locations and communities  

Identifying and planning how to manage other high-risk places, locations and communities 
of interest including sheltered housing, dormitories for migrant workers, transport access 

Page 12



 
 

points (e.g., ports, airports), detained settings, rough sleepers etc (e.g. defining 
preventative measures and outbreak management strategies). 

 
3) Local testing capacity  

Identifying methods for local testing to ensure a swift response that is accessible to the 
entire population.  This could include delivering tests to isolated individuals, establishing 
local pop-up sites or hosting mobile testing units at high-risk locations (e.g. defining how to 
prioritise and manage deployment) 
 

4) Contact tracing in complex settings  

Assessing local and regional contact tracing and infection control capability in complex 
settings (e.g., Tier 1b) and the need for mutual aid (e.g. identifying specific local complex 
communities of interest and settings, developing assumptions to estimate demand, 
developing options to scale capacity if needed). 
 

5) Data integration 

Integrating national and local data and scenario planning through the Joint Biosecurity 
Centre Playbook (e.g., data management planning including data security, data 
requirements including NHS linkages). 

 
 

6) Vulnerable people  

Supporting vulnerable local people to get help to self-isolate (e.g. encouraging neighbours 
to offer support, identifying relevant community groups, planning how to co-ordinate and 
deploy) and ensuring services meet the needs of diverse communities. 
 

7) Local Boards  

Establishing governance structures led by existing Covid-19 Health Protection Boards and 
supported by existing Gold command forums and a new member-led Board to 
communicate with the general public. 

 

6. Greater Manchester Covid-19 Outbreak Control Plan 

As part of the existing integrated working across GM and the key role of the GM Combined 

Authority and the GM Health & Social Care Partnership, a Covid-19 Outbreak Control Plan has 

been developed across GM which follows the same principles as the outbreak control plans that 

each of the 10 GM local authorities have developed.  

The GM plan supports our local plans with clear approaches across the city region to each of the 

seven key themes of the outbreak control plans including the overlapping systems of command 

and control required during outbreak response, which feed into the Local Resilience Forum.   

-  

  

Page 13



 
 

CHAPTER 2 
 

LIVING WITH COVID 

Preventing Outbreaks 

The most effective way to deliver on the priorities in this plan is to ensure appropriate measures 

are taken and partners and communities are enabled to prevent Covid-19 transmission and 

outbreaks occurring. The key partners involved in this plan and the ongoing work around the cycle 

of health protection and outbreak management will continually work to embed this preventative 

approach.  

Some of the key measures and actions that will be taken to prevent the further spread of Covid-19 

include:   

1. Communicating simple and clear preventative messaging across a range of stakeholders, 

including staff, local employers and residents. 

2. Engaging with local communities to understand barriers to adhering to social distancing 

and isolation. This will also improve our insight and understanding of how to enable people 

to have appropriate understanding of risks and make informed decisions. 

3. Local Testing Capacity – developing sufficient capacity and access to testing to reduce 

onward transmission. 

4. Contact Tracing – supporting the delivery of the national Test & Trace programme as well 

as taking forward our robust local response across Tameside and GM 

5. Infection control – ensuring that organisations have the appropriate guidance, training and 

supplies to maintain basic infection control  processes. 

6. PPE - Ensuring key organisations have access to appropriate PPE and the guidance, 

education and support to use it properly. 

7. Consequence Management - supporting residents to self-isolate and prevent onward 

transmission through the humanitarian hub. 

8. Data Integration - closely monitoring case rates in local areas to ensure increases are 

identified and action taken. 

9. High Risk Settings & Groups - identifying and developing specific outbreak plans and 

preventative approaches for high risk settings. This extends to supporting high risk 

demographic groups as appropriate such as those who are shielded or BAME groups.  

 

1. Communicating 

This section outlines the key areas for communications across our system and communities 

relating to Covid-19. The detailed plans and progress around this will sit with a dedicated 

Communications & Engagement Group that has been established and will report into the Health 

Protection Board. 

Part of the delivery of these messages will be in the form of communication campaigns such as the 

#TogetherGM campaign across Greater Manchester and the Limiting The Spread Campaign 

locally in Tameside, which will engage with all households in the borough. 

With Residents 

- It is essential the system continues to reiterate the consistent behavioural messages to our 

residents that will reduce virus transmission: 

o Handwashing 

o Social distancing 

o “Don’t be a contact” 

o What to do if you have symptoms 

Page 14



 
 

o What to do if your household members/close contacts have symptoms 

o Support available when self-isolating and how to access it (particularly important for 

those where isolating may cause financial hardship). 

 

- This approach relies on saturation of simple messages focussed around personal 

responsibility and protecting those who are more vulnerable 

- The communication approach will vary for different communities. A detailed 

communications plan outlines this in more detail and the range of approaches that will be 

used for different demographics and communities across Tameside, as well as the media 

used; language; cultural sensitivity; and frequency of communications.  

- Communications will also be adaptive and rapidly respond to situations informed by the 

cycle of health protection and outbreak control as intelligence informs us of increasing risks 

or target areas/communities/settings. 

 

With Partners  

- Tameside Health & Wellbeing Board and the multi-agency Health Protection Board will be 

working across all partner organisations to ensure consistent messages are reinforced  

- Third sector partners will be integral to this both in supporting the wide range of third sector 

staff and volunteers with regular information and FAQs; and also to support promoting 

relevant messages to large sections of our community in Tameside  

 

With Local Employers and Businesses   

- It is important for local employers and businesses to have access to and promote clear and 

consistent messaging to enable people working and engaging with them to prevent 

transmission of Covid-19  

- Specific communication to local employers and businesses will include the simple 

behavioural messages highlighted for residents above, as well as regular information and 

FAQs for staff. A costed communications plan is being developed outlining how businesses 

can reopen safely and will include key messages for information and assurance for the 

public. This has been informed by surveying town centre businesses and spaces to 

understand and support the works required to make them ‘Covid-safe’. 

- The Tameside Council Employment & Skills team provide proactive communications to 

local employers and businesses to make clear the support available if businesses need to 

reduce operations or close temporarily as a result of Covid-19 impacts  

 

2. Engaging with Communities 

Resident engagement is key to driving our understanding of how residents relate to and 

understand advice relating to Covid-19 (preventing the spread), but also in terms of what the 

consequences may be for residents e.g. economic, social.  

A dedicated Communications & Engagement Group reports into the Health Protection Board which 

will deliver on more detailed plans to engage with our communities, sitting alongside the 

established plans and campaigns to communicate. The Tameside Health & Wellbeing Board will 

continue to be a key driver for this engagement and our wider community response to Covid-19. 

This approach links in to how we support high risk places, communities and groups and the priority 

will be doing this with our residents and communities. Enforcement approaches are to be a last 

resort. 

This will link to the wider approach to communications and engagement across Greater 

Manchester, which is detailed in the GM Covid-19 Outbreak Control Plan and uses the established 

messaging of the #TogetherGM campaign. This aims to increase public understanding of and 

Page 15



 
 

compliance with public health instructions, while providing a sense of community, hope and 

optimism – by showing how Greater Manchester is joining together by everyone playing their part 

in stopping the spread of Covid-19. 

There are also clear local opportunities via groups including faith leaders and Faith United 

Tameside, as well as the wider range of third sector organisations, coordinated by Action Together 

to provide messaging, engagement and support into communities.  

 

3. Local Testing Capacity 

The aim of mass testing for Covid-19 in Tameside is to minimise the overall harm caused by the 

Covid-19 pandemic and allow lockdown restrictions to be eased. This mass testing strategy can 

support surveillance; treatment of individuals; support for essential workers; contact tracing; and 

outbreak management.  

Delivery of the Mass Testing Strategy in Tameside will sit with the Health Protection Board via the 

Test and Trace Working Group. This structure will carry out the work required to ensure optimal 

capacity and access to testing across Tameside.  

The national approach to Covid-19 testing includes 5 separate Pillars through which testing is 

delivered. The testing Pillars cover a number of pathways. Broadly, each pathway, irrespective of 

location, includes the same steps of: Requesting, Testing, Laboratory analysis and Reporting. 

 

 

Across GM there is a Mass Testing Strategy and Operational Model which set out governance, 

resource requirements and delivery of testing across GM. 

Pillar 1 – NHS Testing 
Pillar 1 testing is NHS swab testing for those within an Acute setting. . Tameside & Glossop 
Integrated Care Trust (ICFT) are testing the following groups on the hospital site: 

- Patients who are symptomatic 

- Staff who are symptomatic and/or and symptomatic family members they live with 

Page 16



 
 

- Patients being discharged to care homes/hospice 

- Patients in the hospice as requested 

- All non-elective admissions to hospitals 

- Patients requiring planned admissions 

 
Pillar 2 – Resident and Essential Worker Testing 
Anyone in Tameside who has symptoms of coronavirus, whatever their age, can ask for a test 
through the NHS website national portal or calling 119. Essential workers in Tameside can access 
priority testing through GOV.UK or through local processes via a dedicated email address.. 
The Pillar 2 testing programme includes: 
● Viral antigen testing – indicating that the individual has a current infection 
● Throat and nasal swabbing in communities 
● Symptomatic or asymptomatic presentation 
● Testing for Care Homes - Whole home testing of residents and staff has been carried out in 
Tameside care homes via Pillar 2 to understand the prevalence of Covid-19 in these settings and 
inform management. Options will be explored going forward as to how this may continue to ensure 
appropriate surveillance of Covid-19 infection in Care Homes as one of the highest risk settings. 

 Testing for essential workers, local residents, children aged 0-18 

● Local satellite site at Ashton Primary Care Centre, mobile pop-up testing site at Ashton 
Curzon and postal self-administered tests (nationally booked).  The public health team are 
developing proposals to deal with ‘surge’ capacity where additional swabbing may be necessary – 
for example case finding during outbreaks or within health and social care settings such as  
domiciliary care or sheltered accommodation.  
● Non-hospital/PHE Laboratories such as the ‘Lighthouse Labs’ 
 
Pillar 3 – Antibody Testing 
Antibody testing – ‘serology test’, commenced in June 2020.   The presence of antibodies in a 
person’s serum (taken from a blood sample) indicates past infection and does not necessarily 
confirm any form of immunity at the time. Results are being collected as a measure of prevalence 
of the COVID-19 virus in the population.  The programme is targeting all asymptomatic NHS staff 
in hospitals, NHS patients,  and will roll out to primary care staff, patients and in Care Homes. 
 
Pillar 4 – Surveillance Testing 
Pillar 4 is around surveillance of the population  and is a core outcome of Contact Tracing.  
Individuals who test positive for COVID-19 through current or mass testing activity may be included 
in the tracing programme .  Other groups of individuals traced after contact with someone who has 
tested positive will require inclusion in the testing programme. 
 
Pillar 5 – Diagnostics National Effort 
Pillar 5 programme supports industrial growth of capacity to provide and analyse more tests.  The 
current limiting factors for antigen testing relate to laboratory requirements for platform/analyser-
specific chemical reagents.   Current assumption on supply of reagents is that production lies 
outside the UK.  Consideration is being given to establishing production within the UK and/or within 
GM and EC to harness the regional life sciences and manufacturing assets and to maximise the 
economic opportunities. 
 

4. Contact Tracing 

The UK Government has announced the launch of the Test and Trace service as part of an 
integrated test, trace, constrain and enable (TTCE) approach to COVID-19. The aims of the 
national test and trace service are to reduce the national R number to below 1.0; save lives; and 
allow safe release from lockdown. 

The national capacity around contact tracing consists of teams of national call handlers (Level 3) 
and professional contact tracers employed via NHS Professionals (Level 2). More complex issues 
will be passed to local areas (Level 1). 

Page 17



 
 

The key roles and responsibilities of the national test and trace service (Level 2 and 3) are as 
follows: 

 Providing advice to contacts according to Standard Operation Procedures (SOPs) and 

scripts.  This will include the Household and Community contexts of cases escalated to 

Level 1. 

 Level 3 call handlers to escalate difficult issues to the level 2 staff who will deal with these 

issues.  

 The interviewing of cases, and identifying their contacts using Standard Operating 

Procedures (SOPs) and scripts 

 Level 2 staff will escalate complex issues and situations to Level 1.  

 
As part of the test and trace service, cases where there is added complexity, high risk setting, or 
people who are more vulnerable will be passed to local areas to provide more bespoke support 
(Level 1). To enable this across GM, a Contact Tracing Hub has been established to bring 
additional contact tracing capacity as well as expertise from the Health Protection Team in Public 
Health England into the system. The GM hub acts as Level 1 in Greater Manchester and will be an 
interface for those complex cases passed through by the national service. This includes complex 
contact tracing or supporting people to isolate where required.  
The key roles and responsibilities of the GM Contact Tracing Hub (Level 1) are as follows: 

 Receipt of escalated cases from Level 2 and 3 of the national Test and Trace service 

 Receipt of contact tracing requirements directly from localities where local intelligence 

identifies issues in the first instance 

 Completion of setting-specific contact tracing or escalation to appropriate setting to 

undertake contact tracing themselves (eg. hospitals; fire & rescue service; police) 

 Information sharing with localities where issues are dealt with 

 Escalation of potential individual / household support requirements to locality SPOC 

 Assessment of whether an outbreak has been identified (PHE) 

 Joint management of outbreaks   

 
As part of this system, a dedicated Single Point of Contact (SPOC) has been established in 
Tameside to manage these cases where input is required from the local authority.  
 
The key roles for the local authority in supporting contact tracing include: 

 Escalation of locally identified potential contact tracing requirements to GM SPOC. 

 Oversight and management of contact tracing requirements in relation to care homes 

(Infection Prevention & Control team) 

 Contact tracing for complex scenarios which fall outside the scope of the SOP, or where 

there is an acute level of complexity that requires a bespoke response.  These are 

articulated in the SOP as ‘underserved’ populations. 

 Co-ordination of locality consequence management in relation to complex settings 

 Safeguarding potentially vulnerable people and providing support to potential vulnerable 

individuals / households 

 Co-ordination of local communications and engagement in relation to potentially 

contentious or controversial for either information or action 

 Recording activity and reporting back to GM Contact Tracing Hub 

 Training and development of locality staff 

 Joint management of an outbreak in accordance with SOP 

 
Further detail of these processes can be found in the GM Outbreak Control Plan and associated 
SOPs developed by the GM Hub and PHE, which provide detailed step-by-step guidance as to the 
processes followed in each specific situation. 
 

Page 18



 
 

5. Infection control processes 

Good, basic infection control processes are essential in ensuring that the risk of transmission of 
Covid-19 is minimised. Population Health and the Infection Prevention and Control Team continue 
to provide guidance, education and support to settings on infection control, including handwashing, 
environmental cleaning, waste disposal, and the proper use of PPE. 
 
6. PPE Management 

Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) is crucial in preventing the spread of Covid-19, particularly 
for staff who come into contact with people who may be infected with the virus. Tameside & 
Glossop Strategic Commission has worked with GM procurement in supporting the local system to 
access the necessary volumes of PPE throughout the Covid-19 pandemic.  
This support will continue throughout the outbreak, and an emergency stockpile of PPE will be 
maintained to: 

- Provide additional PPE if there are local outbreaks in certain settings which require 

immediate increase in PPE use to prevent spread. 

- To provide a buffer should an organisations PPE stock become reduced as a result of order 

delays/supply chain issues.  

 
7. Consequence Management 

When contact tracers advice residents to self-isolate there are potentially consequences for 
individuals and organisations within Tameside. These consequences will be managed locally to 
minimise the impact of the virus on residents. 
 
Organisational Consequences 

Organisations that deliver essential services may require support if large numbers of staff are 
asked to self-isolate; this is a key role of the SPOC.  
 
In situations where consequence management issues are identified for organisations, the following 
actions will be taken: 

1. Escalated to the Tameside SPOC via the GM hub or via local intelligence 

2. The impact on the organisation will be discussed with the organisation – this will include 

any other relevant partners 

3. Agile risk assessments will be conducted with all partners and actions will be developed to 

mitigate the impacts identified 

This process will ensure that appropriate isolation as advised by the test and trace service can take 

place to prevent further spread of Covid-19 while also limiting any adverse impacts this may have. 

Critical organisations/services in Tameside which are at risk if high numbers of staff self-isolate 

include but are not limited to: 

- Hospital services 

- Primary Care services 

- Emergency Services (Police; Fire & Rescue; Ambulance) 

- Essential council services (e.g. refuge collection, safeguarding, social care) 

- Care homes 

- Utilities 

- Schools and childcare providers 

 

Consequences for Individuals 

Some individuals may either not be in a position to comply with self-isolation (e.g. homeless 

people, those with social or mental health issues), may struggle to self-support if they are shielded 

Page 19



 
 

or may not comply with self-isolation due to the economic and social impact on them and their 

family. 

In situations where consequence management issues are identified for individuals, the following 

actions will be taken:  

1. Escalated to the Tameside SPOC via the GM hub or via local intelligence 

2. The Tameside SPOC will identify the most appropriate method to provide support to the 

individual to enable them to comply with self-isolation (via referral into relevant support 

or specialist service) – this will include any other relevant partners 

3. Key partners to support individuals include but not limited to: 

- TMBC Contact Centre as a front door to main support and council services as well as 

humanitarian hub support  

- Citizen’s Advice Bureau – supporting residents to access financial support during 

isolation e.g. payment holidays.  

- Welfare rights for more complex financial support and welfare assistance benefits. 

- NHS volunteer service and local third sector support in their community.  

- Action Together – as the main support agency and link into wider third sector 

organisations including volunteers across the borough 

There is a potential resource impact for the system of supporting individuals to self-isolate, for 

example through continuing to provide humanitarian hub support. These resource implications will 

be escalated via the Tameside Test & Trace Working Group and fed through to the Health 

Protection Board where required. 

8. Data Integration 

As outlined in the cycle of health protection and outbreak management, data surveillance and 

intelligence are crucial in informing areas for action and increased focus or response.  

As part of the governance structure around this plan, a Data & Intelligence group reports into the 

Health Protection Board which is working to develop a robust intelligence dashboard to inform how 

we control and manage Covid-19 in Tameside. 

The data flows from the test and trace system are essential for improving the understanding of the 

location and spread of the virus within the local population. This needs to be integrated with local 

surveillance data to provide a fully integrated intelligence dashboard both at a GM and Tameside 

level. 

As data flows and access improve, our ambition will be to gain a more detailed picture of the 
spread of Covid-19 across Tameside which will be nearer to real-time data (in the form of daily 
dashboards). The aim will be to use time series/trend analyses to: 

 Identify local outbreaks and hotspots through data analysis and mapping; 

 Provide evidence to support neighbourhood-level decision making 

 Provide evidence to support resource distribution decisions (eg. testing capacity) 

 Provide evidence of communities or groups who may require additional support (eg. aware 

of larger numbers of people in a particular area self-isolating) 

 Where possible, undertake forecasting and predictive analytics.  

 
The key areas of focus for the daily dashboards will be: 

 Care Homes 

 Hospitals  

 Other high risk settings (eg. homeless accommodation) 

 Schools 

 Local geographies (by MSOA/Town/Postcode)  

 Those experiencing inequalities (eg. BAME and Shielded groups) 

Page 20



 
 

 
Data presentation will move towards local mapping and decision making frameworks of indicators 
as we move forward and data flows and access improve.  
 
Additional Information 

There is an important role for soft intelligence to support the work of the Data & Intelligence Group. 
It is proposed this will operate as a regular ‘touch base’ with key partners including the hospital 
(infection prevention & control team); adult health and social care; local business leaders group; 
key VCSFE representatives (Action Together); Pandemic Resilience Leads and Managers; other 
providers of council services. 
 
There is also an established Covid-19 Impacts Dashboard produced by Tameside & Glossop 
Strategic Commission Business Intelligence team. This details metrics, outcomes and information 
relating to the wider impacts of the Covid-19 pandemic on the delivery of the Tameside & Glossop 
Corporate Plan priorities. This includes areas such as vulnerable children and adults; economic; 
environmental; and organisational impacts.  
 
9. High Risk Settings & Groups 

Identifying and planning how to manage high risk places, settings and communities of interest is 
critical to ensuring that those groups who are most in need get the support required to prevent 
transmission and manage the consequences of the virus.   
 
As part of the national Test & Trace service, complex contact tracing which involves high risk 
settings or individuals requiring additional support will be automatically passed to the GM Contact 
Tracing Hub. Further detail about the process and roles and responsibilities in these situations is 
detailed in the previous section on contact tracing and there is further detail in the GM Outbreak 
Control Plan.  
 
Support for vulnerable individuals 

The council are taking proactive steps to support those who are more vulnerable to Covid-19 via 
the existing Humanitarian Hub and the core support provided around food, medicines and 
wellbeing. This has supported those who are shielding throughout the pandemic and is also 
accessible via the Council’s main contact centre.  
 
The GM Contact Tracing Hub and Tameside SPOC will also provide assistance and prevention 

advice where vulnerable individuals are identified as cases or contacts through the Test and Trace 

service. This support may include referral into the local humanitarian hub; or bespoke support via 

existing specialist services (eg. social care; domestic abuse services). 

Support for high risk settings 

Table 1 below outlines some of the known high risk settings in the borough. This is based on local 

intelligence and information and also the criteria which the national Test and Trace service have 

applied to situations where local input will be required. Further detail of this can be found in the GM 

Outbreak Control Plan. This is not an exhaustive list and is expected to grow and develop over 

time as new situations arise.  

As part of the established governance around this plan, the Health Protection Board and Tameside 

Test & Trace Working Group are working proactively with a range of settings, services and 

organisations to ensure risk assessments and mitigation plans are in place to minimise the risk of 

Covid-19 transmission. This risk assessment process has been led by Tameside Council’s Health 

& Safety team and has included working closely with all Council services, schools and other 

partners to ensure these steps have been taken. Appendix 4 outlines a list of further national 

Page 21



 
 

guidance and standard operating procedures for specific settings in the context of working with 

Covid-19.  

Ongoing discussions and communications with other sectors such as health care, emergency 

services, voluntary and community sector organisations and local employers and businesses are 

also taking place. This is supported by the Council’s Environmental Health, Trading Standards and 

Business Compliance teams as well as the Employment & Skills team who all provide proactive 

support to businesses.   

The most appropriate point of contact for these settings where situations or concerns arise 

is the Tameside Single Point of Contact at covid-19@tameside.gov.uk  

 

Setting Key Partners & Processes (contact tracing and consequence 
management) 

People living or 
working in prisons 

PHE NW / GM Hub to coordinate support 

Homeless population Tameside SPOC will liaise with TMBC Community Safety Team (risk 
assessments and mitigation plans in place) 

Border Force and 
Immigration officers 

PHE NW / GM Hub to coordinate support 

Care home resident or 
staff member 

TMBC PH / Adult Social Care / ICFT Infection Control teams coordinate 
management and response (dedicated procedures and SOPs). 
National contact tracers to follow up staff.  
 
Further information and local guidance for care homes can be found 
here: 
 

PHE NW Care Home 
COVID-19 pack 2020 v6.0_Tameside.docx

     

PPE guidance - 
Tameside summary advice_v2.9 040620.docx

 
 

Primary Care PHE NW / GM Hub to coordinate support and liaise with Tameside 
SPOC / CCG Primary Care leads where significant complexity or 
consequence management issues arise (risk assessments and 
mitigation plans in place).  
 
General Practice 
If significant staffing pressures occur in General Practice, practices 
should invoke their business continuity plan and notify the CCG. 
 
Community Pharmacy 
Staff in community pharmacies may be unable to socially distance, 
therefore the use of PPE is routine. Full guidance can be accessed via 
the link to the Community Pharmacy SOP in Appendix 4. If significant 
staffing pressures occur in Community Pharmacy, they should invoke 
their business continuity plan and notify GMH&SCP. 
 
Dentistry 
Services are currently being stepped back up; where face-to-face care 
is required, staff wear appropriate PPE. Full guidance can be accessed 
via the link to the Dentistry SOP in Appendix 4 
 
Optometry 
Routine services have been re-instated; where face-to-face care is 
required, staff wear appropriate PPE. Additional guidance can be found 

Page 22

mailto:covid-19@tameside.gov.uk


 
 

Setting Key Partners & Processes (contact tracing and consequence 
management) 

in the Optical SOP in Appendix 4. 
 

Acute Healthcare 
Workers 

ICFT Infection Prevention & Control Team will lead follow up in acute 
healthcare settings as per existing procedures 

Emergency Service 
Workers 

PHE NW / GM Hub to coordinate support 

School pupils or staff 
and early years 

PHE NW / GM Hub to coordinate support – Tameside SPOC and 
TMBC Education team to provide proactive support to these settings 
(dedicated schools/childcare resource pack). Tameside SPOC also 
rapidly escalate issues to GM Hub based on local intelligence 
 
Further information and guidance for schools can be found in the 
Tameside Schools Support Pack 

Tameside COVID 19 
Resource Pack for Schools Early Years Childcare Settings and Childminders V2 2020 06 19.docx

 
Residents with mental 
health illness 

PHE NW / GM Hub to coordinate support alongside Tameside SPOC – 
to liaise with specialist services where appropriate and/or additional 
support including humanitarian hub 

Entertainment venues PHE NW / GM Hub to coordinate support alongside Tameside SPOC – 
to liaise with TMBC licensing and environmental health teams to 
consider appropriate support / actions 

Religious settings / 
places of worship  

PHE NW / GM Hub to coordinate support alongside Tameside SPOC – 
to liaise with relevant partners including faith leaders where appropriate 
to consider support/actions 

Other businesses / 
charities 

PHE NW / GM Hub to coordinate support alongside Tameside SPOC – 
to liaise with relevant partners and businesses to consider 
support/actions 

Compliance and enforcement 

Some situations may involve potentially infectious people who cannot or will not agree voluntarily 
to be tested. In such circumstances you should still try to persuade the potentially infected person 
to agree to a test or to self-isolate by: the 4 E’s - Engage, Explain, Encourage, and last resort 
Enforce. 
 

 Attempt negotiation directly,  

 Advise of consequences (power to direct to attend, offence if they fail to attend, remove 

with reasonable force) 

 Ask for assistance (Trusted person contact, case worker, family member or friend, religious 

leader, Environmental Health officer, local councillor, police officer to provide assistance) 

 

  

Page 23



 
 

CHAPTER 3 
 

RESPONSE 

The previous chapter outlined the key mechanisms and steps that will be taken to prevent 
outbreaks of Covid-19 in Tameside, based on the seven key themes of outbreak control plans that 
have been identified nationally. The following sections detail the system responses in place where 
outbreaks of Covid-19 do occur.   
 
1. Defining an outbreak  

The emergence of Covid-19 represents an outbreak on a macro scale, which is comprised of a 
number of more localised outbreaks.  
Appendix 1 outlines the detailed definitions for Covid-19 clusters and outbreaks in different 
settings, as well as criteria to measure recovery and declare the end of an outbreak. 
 
2. Governance / Command & Control Arrangements 

Overall accountability and oversight of the Tameside Covid-19 Outbreak Control Plan, and the 
response to Covid-19 outbreak situations sits with Tameside Health & Wellbeing Board. This is 
supported by the Health Protection Board, which is chaired by the Director of Public Health.  
 
See figure 1 below for governance structure. 
 

 
The following structures and partners across Tameside are currently established to support the 
Health Protection Board and manage the response to COVID-19: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Covid-19 Health 

Protection Board 

Public Covid Response 

Group 

Single Point of Contact in 

Tameside 

Test and Trace 

Operational Group 

Action specific working 

groups (various) 

Health and Wellbeing 

Board 

Tameside Comms and 

Engagement Cell 

?Other TMBC groups eg 

testing, care homes, 

schools etc?  

Tameside Data and 

Intelligence Cell 

SCG  

&  

Sliver Command 

Page 24



 
 

 Tameside SCG 

 Tameside Silver (Operations / Health & Care) 

 Tameside COVID Single Point of Contact (Population Health) 

 Tameside and Glossop Integrated Care NHS Foundation Trust (T&G ICFT) – Infection 

Prevention & Control 

 North West Health Protection Team, Public Health England (GM Hub) 

 Tameside Test & Trace Working Group 

 Covid-19 Data and Intelligence Cell 

 Covid-19 Comms & Engagement Cell 

 GM Mass Testing Steering Group 

 GM Contact Tracing Group 

 
These command and control structures will feed into SCG via the Health Protection Board. This 
route of accountability will have responsibility for: 

● Monitoring and contributing to the surveillance of new and emerging outbreaks of COVID-

19 

● Identifying and implementing national and local Public Health actions in both clinical and 

non-clinical settings 

● Leading on testing and contact tracing systems as part of the wider Test, Trace, Contain 

and Enable strategy 

● Providing scientific and technical oversight 

● Continued oversight of implemented actions and Infection Prevention Control Teams 

  
Lead officers for the Tameside Single Point of Contact (SPOC) will feed relevant information and 
raise challenges or issues that may require wider input into the Health Protection Board 
 

3. Managing an Outbreak - Key Roles and Responsibilities 

As outlined in the previous section on Contact Tracing, all positive Covid-19 test results are fed 
through the national Test and Trace service. From here, relevant contact tracing will take place by 
national Level 2 and Level 3 call handlers, with more complex issues and cases being passed to 
the GM Hub for relevant follow up, which may subsequently include the Tameside SPOC.  
 
If multiple cases are identified in a setting (two or more confirmed cases occur in the same setting 
within 14 days), or with other clear epidemiological links, the GM Hub will risk assess whether this 
is likely to indicate transmission within a particular environment. This risk assessment will include: 
 
● Monitoring dates of onset of illness and of last attendance at the setting 
● Monitoring dates of contact between cases in the setting and use of PPE / social distancing 
during contact 
● Links between cases outside the setting (e.g.: home address; social activities; friends; other 
known links) 
 
This risk assessment will be led by colleagues in the NW Health Protection Team (PHE) who sit in 
the GM Hub. If following assessment, this is identified as an outbreak it will progress under existing 
outbreak management arrangements as per the established Operational Local Health Economy 
Outbreak Plan for Tameside. Further details of the steps required in specific situations are outlined 
in the GM Outbreak Control Plan and associated SOPs developed by PHE. The key steps that will 
be led by Tameside Council in conjunction with PHE are as follows: 
 

1. Notification 

Page 25



 
 

This will happen either via GM Hub or locality. Initial notification of a confirmed case will 
link in with the contact tracing process outlined in the previous chapter. 
The Tameside SPOC will be informed of the situation and will log basic information to 
determine next steps and immediate follow-up. 
 

2. Outbreak Investigation & Risk Assessment 

The Tameside SPOC will work with the NW Health Protection Team (PHE) to review 
intelligence and make connections that lead to a potential outbreak situation. This will 
involve contact with the setting to gather further information about numbers of symptomatic 
individuals and potential contacts including any other risks. Where significant risk is 
identified a joint decision will be taken between Tameside MBC and PHE to declare an 
outbreak. 
 

3. Advice & Controls 

Infection prevention & control advice provided to the setting to manage immediate risks. 
Also to include social distancing; hygiene; PPE use; protective groupings (cohorts); 
enhanced cleaning; requirement for closure. Links to relevant national and local advice to 
be provided including template letters for further communications; FAQs; detailed infection 
control advice where required. Consideration for wider communications / media support 
such as letters out to wider groups or reactive press statements.  
 

4. Assess Testing Need 

Tameside MBC and PHE to determine the need for any further testing requirements with 
the priority being any symptomatic people who have not yet been tested.  
 

5. Assess Need for Outbreak Control Team 

If the outbreak is complex and multiple issues arise, Tameside MBC and PHE will discuss 
the need to convene and Outbreak Control Team (key members will include Tameside 
Population Health; PHE; Infection Control Team; representative of setting; other relevant 
stakeholders and partners including healthcare; CCG; or environmental health 
representatives). Communications implications should also be considered at this stage and 
involved in the OCT if appropriate. A high threshold will be applied and an OCT will only be 
convened for the most complex situations. In lower risk scenarios, the Tameside SPOC will 
coordinate local response and determine whether a local response team meeting is 
required. 
 

6. Continued Follow-up 

Consequence management issues to be picked up across partners and addressed. This 
will be coordinated by the Tameside SPOC. Examples may include bespoke support for 
vulnerable individuals; PPE supply issues; complex local contact tracing requirements; 
staffing and continuity issues in a service/setting. Settings will remain in contact with PHE 
and Tameside SPOC to inform of any further issues or changes to the situation. The risk 
assessment will be reviewed if information emerges that would change the approach (eg. 
increase in number of cases) 
 

7. Close Outbreak 

In the short term, once all necessary infection prevention and control and consequence 
management actions are complete the situation is closed for further actions. The outbreak 
can be declared over 28 days after the last case of Covid-19 infection. Further actions 
around consequence management may need to continue beyond this period if there has 
been significant impact.  
 

8. Further Monitoring / Notification 

The setting will monitor the situation and will notify Tameside SPOC and PHE if the 
situation worsens and further input is required.  

  

Page 26



 
 

The GM Hub holds the SOPs which outline more detailed steps that will take place in the event of 
outbreaks in specific settings and situations. These have been informed by detailed scenario 
planning which has taken place at a GM and local level.  
 
Hours of Operation 

The Tameside SPOC will operate from 09:00 – 17:00 Monday to Friday. Outside of these hours, in 
emergencies, health protection advice will be provided by the PHE North West Health Protection 
Team.  
Tameside Council’s normal civil contingency contacts will be used for any relevant out of hours 
requirements. 
 
See Appendix 5 for a list of key contact details. 
 
Figure 3 below summarises the different levels of roles and responsibilities during an outbreak 
situation emphasising the important role of two-way communication in that system. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Figure 3 - Summary of Roles and Responsibilities Relating to Covid-19 Outbreak 

Management 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

National Contact Tracing Team  

Majority of cases followed up and 
managed here 

PHE NW Team working with GM 
HUB 

Queries regarding complex cases passed to 
regional GM hub e.g. case in a school. PHE 

NW manage these cases and follow up. PHE 
may form an outbreak control team in some 

cases. 

Tameside Single Point of Contact 

Coordinating response to local complex 
contact tracing and consequence 

management queries passed on from 
GM/PHE. Feeding local intelligence upwards. 

Test and Trace Operational Group 
Tasked with operationalising the response 

made up of system wide experts and 
stakeholders. 

National 

Regional

 
 

National 

Local 

T
w

o
-w

a
y
 c

o
m

m
u

n
ic

a
ti

o
n

 a
n

d
 d

a
ta

 

fl
o

w
 

Page 27



 
 

 

 

 

Other Outbreak Management Considerations  

Communications during a specific outbreak  

- During an outbreak it will be necessary to ensure clear communication across all partners. 

The Tameside SPOC will work with communications leads across Tameside Council and 

other partners including PHE to determine any reactive and wider communications required 

in relation to a specific outbreak 

- Where required, Tameside SPOC will work with PHE to develop reactive press statements 

relating to outbreak situations as they arise 

- SPOC contact details will be shared with partners to help two-way communication and help 

support partners in preventing and managing cases. 

 
Media and Political Impact 

Outbreaks in certain organisations such as schools may result in wider media interest, which can 
cause public unrest and disruption.  
 
The Health Protection Board and the Tameside SPOC will support specific settings with existing 
resources to provide clear advice and information and will manage any wider media and political 
impacts in these situations as they arise. 
 
Managing Delivery 

A log of all actions arising from the various work streams supporting Covid-19 outbreak 
management will be held by the Tameside SPOC and PHE centrally and can be reviewed through 
the governance to track progress and ensure actions and control measures are being followed up.  
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 28



 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDICES 
 
 

Appendix 1 - Outbreak Definitions  
 

Outbreak definition for non-residential settings  

1. Table 1 provides the definition of an outbreak in non-residential settings and also includes 

the criteria to measure recovery and declare the end of an outbreak. This definition is 

consistent with the WHO outbreak definition.  

 
2. A cluster definition is also provided to capture situations where there is less epidemiological 

evidence for transmission within the setting itself and there may be alternative sources of 

infection; however, these clusters would trigger further investigation. 

 
Table 1: Declaring and ending an outbreak and cluster in a non-residential setting (e.g. a 
workplace, local settings such as schools and national infrastructure) 

 Criteria to declare  Criteria to end  

Cluster Two or more confirmed cases of COVID-19 

among individuals associated with a specific 

setting with onset dates within 14 days  

  

(In the absence of available information about 

exposure between the index case and other 

cases) 

No confirmed cases with onset 

dates in the last 14 days 

Outbreak Two or more confirmed cases of COVID-19 

among individuals associated with a specific 

setting with onset dates within 14 days  

  

AND ONE OF: 

  

Identified direct exposure between at least two of 

No confirmed cases with onset 

dates in the last 28 days in that 

setting (higher threshold for 

outbreaks compared to clusters) 

Page 29



 
 

the confirmed cases in that setting (e.g. within 2 

metres for >15 minutes) during the infectious 

period of the putative index case 

 

OR 

 

(when there is no sustained community 

transmission or equivalent JBC risk level) - 

absence of alternative source of infection outside 

the setting for initially identified cases 

Outbreak definition for residential settings  

3. Table 2 provides a broader definition of an outbreak in residential settings. This definition 

differs from the definition for non-residential settings because SARS CoV2 is known to 

spread more readily in residential settings, such as care homes and places of detention, 

therefore a cluster definition is not required.  

 

Table 2: Declaring and ending an outbreak and cluster in an institutional or residential 

setting, such as a care home or place of detention 

 Criteria to declare  Criteria to end  

Outbreak Two or more confirmed cases of COVID-19 OR 

clinically suspected cases of COVDI-19 among 

individuals associated with a specific setting with 

onset dates within 14 days  

  

NB. If there is a single laboratory confirmed case, 

this would initiate further investigation and risk 

assessment. 

No confirmed cases with onset 

dates in the last 28 days in that 

setting 

 

4. Table 3 provides a broader definition of outbreaks in either in-patient and out-patient 

settings.  

 

Table 3: Declaring and ending an outbreak in an inpatient setting such as a hospital ward or 

ambulatory healthcare services, including primary care 

 Criteria to declare  Criteria to end  

Outbreak 

in an 

inpatient 

setting 

Two or more confirmed cases of COVID-19 OR 

clinically suspected cases of COVDI-19 among 

individuals associated with a specific setting with 

onset dates 8-14 days after admissions within the 

same ward or wing of a hospital.   

 

NB. If there is a single laboratory confirmed case, 

No confirmed cases with onset 

dates in the last 28 days in that 

setting (higher threshold for 

outbreaks compared to clusters 

Page 30



 
 

 Criteria to declare  Criteria to end  

this would initiate further investigation and risk 

assessment. 

Outbreak 

in an 

outpatien

t setting  

Two or more confirmed cases of COVID-19 

among individuals associated with a specific 

setting with onset dates within 14 days  

  

AND ONE OF: 

  

Identified direct exposure between at least two of 

the confirmed cases in that setting (e.g. within 2 

metres for >15 minutes) during the infectious 

period of the putative index case 

 

OR 

 

(when there is no sustained community 

transmission or equivalent JBC risk level) - 

absence of alternative source of infection outside 

the setting for initially identified cases 

No confirmed cases with onset 

dates in the last 28 days in that 

setting 

 
Other Definitions 

Possible case New persistent cough, OR fever (over 37.8) OR change or lack of sense of 
smell or taste. 

Confirmed case Person with positive PCR test for SARS-CoV-2 (regardless of symptoms). 

Outbreak Two or more confirmed cases linked in space and time. 

Incubation 
period 

Range 4 to 6 days, with the shortest recorded incubation of 1 day, and 
longest of 11 days 

Infectious 
period 

48 hours before onset of symptoms until 7 days from onset of symptoms 

Exclusion 
period 

Symptomatic confirmed cases – 7 days from onset of symptoms; 14 days for 
elderly care home residents 
Asymptomatic confirmed cases – 7 days from date of test  
Household contacts of cases – 14 days from onset of symptoms/(date of test 
if asymptomatic) in family member 

 

  

Page 31



 
 

Appendix 2 – Functions and details of the Tameside Covid-19 Single Point of Contact 

 

As part of the preventative approach to the control and management of Covid-19 in Tameside, a 
Single Point of Contact has been established to interface with the GM Contact Tracing Hub. This 
acts as a point of contact for two way communication with the GM hub and colleagues in Public 
Health England to escalate cases and situations where they are identified both by the national Test 
and Trace system, and locality intelligence. 
 
Tameside SPOC – covid-19@tameside.gov.uk 
Hours of Operation: 9am-5pm Mon-Fri 
Ownership – Population Health Team, Tameside MBC 
 
Key Functions of the Tameside SPOC: 

 To act as contact point for GM Contact Tracing Hub  

 Will receive cases from the GM Contact Tracing Hub in 3 forms of escalation 

o For information 

o For action 

o For preparedness (no action required, but may be required in the future) 

 Criteria considered for escalation to Tameside SPOC from GM Contact Tracing Hub 

o Large number of contacts are likely to meet the proximity or direct contact definition 

o High numbers of vulnerable people are identified as potential contacts within the 

setting 

o Potential impact on service delivery if staff are excluded for 14 days from exposure 

o Significant consequence management concerns 

o Concerns around support needs of potentially vulnerable individual or household 

o Outbreak declared 

o Healthcare setting 

o Social care setting 

o Death or severe illness reported in the case or contacts  

o Significant likelihood of media or political interest in situation 

 To escalate issues/cases identified locally to the GM Contact Tracing Hub where further 

contact tracing support or specialist input from the Health Protection Team (PHE) is 

required  

 To act at a key point of contact and coordination in the event of an outbreak situation – in 

liaison with PHE and the GM Contact Tracing Hub 

 
Resources 
The Tameside SPOC will require the following resources to process enquiries and escalations 
and also follow up with appropriate actions: 

 Oversight from Consultants in Public Health (x 3) 

 Administrative / Business Support Capacity (x 1 WTE) 

o Responsible for logging and cascading relevant actions and recording actions 

taken 

 Case management capacity 

o To be drawn from pre-identified resource in the system (eg. Population Health 

Team; Community Infection Prevention and Control team; other specialist 

colleagues drawn from the Tameside Test & Trace Working Group membership 

as required) 

 

Wider resource requirements to support the functioning of the Tameside SPOC will include: 

 Dedicated business intelligence analytic capacity (TMBC BI Team) to support the 

Data & Intelligence Group which reports into the Health Protection Board 

Page 32

mailto:covid-19@tameside.gov.uk


 
 

 Dedicated communications and engagement capacity (TMBC Communications 

team; Action Together) to support the Comms & Engagement group which reports 

into the Health Protection Board 

 Local resource to flexibly deploy Covid-19 testing capacity  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 33



 
 

 

Appendix 3 – Terms of Reference of key groups as part of Covid-19 Outbreak Control Plan 

governance  

 

 COVID Health Protection Board 

COVID Health 

Protection Board ToRs.pdf
 

 

 Tameside Health & Wellbeing Board 

INSERT TOR 

 

 Tameside Test and Trace Working Group 

 

Draft TOR Tameside 
Test and Trace Working Group.docx

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 4 – Links to relevant national guidance and operating procedures for specific 

settings 

 

Page 34



 
 

 NHS England Primary Care Guidance 

 Current guidance on the use of PPE in all Primary Care settings 

 Standard Operating Procedures for General Practice 

 Standard Operating Procedures for Community Pharmacy 

 Standard Operation Procedure for Dental Practice 

 Standard Operating Procedure for Optometry 

 List of adult social care guidance: https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/coronavirus-

covid-19-social-care-guidance 

 

 Infection prevention and control guidance (including PPE guidance): 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/wuhan-novel-coronavirus-infection-prevention-

and-control 

 Wider advice for schools and education settings 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-school-closures 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 5 – Key Contacts 

 

Organisation/ Role Email address Phone number 

Tameside SPOC Covid-19@tameside.gov.uk   

Page 35

https://www.england.nhs.uk/coronavirus/primary-care/
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/878750/T2_poster_Recommended_PPE_for_primary__outpatient__community_and_social_care_by_setting.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/coronavirus/primary-care/general-practice/standard-operating-procedures/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/coronavirus/publication/standard-operating-procedure-community-pharmacy/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/coronavirus/wp-content/uploads/sites/52/2020/06/C0575-dental-transition-to-recovery-SOP-4June.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/coronavirus/wp-content/uploads/sites/52/2020/04/C0601-covid-19-optical-sop-v1-17-June-2020.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/coronavirus-covid-19-social-care-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/coronavirus-covid-19-social-care-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/wuhan-novel-coronavirus-infection-prevention-and-control
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/wuhan-novel-coronavirus-infection-prevention-and-control
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-school-closures
mailto:Covid-19@tameside.gov.uk


 
 

Tameside Council Contact Centre - 0161 342 8355 

Tameside Council 
Communications Team 
 

communications@tameside
.gov.uk  

- 

Tameside Council Civil 
Contingencies Out of Hours 

- 0161 342 2222 

Public Health England North West 
Health Protection Team 

Icc.northwest@phe.gov.uk  09:00 – 17:00 Monday to 
Friday 0344 225 0562 
(option 0 then 3) 
Out of hours 
0151 434 4819 

Tameside & Glossop (ICFT) 
Community Infection Prevention & 
Control Team 

- 0161 922 6194  (9-5pm – 
out of hours please call 
PHE contact) 

GM H&SCP Pharmacy, Optometry 
and Dentistry Teams 
 

- For pharmacy and 
optometry 
england.gmtop@nhs.net 
 
For dentistry 
England.gmdental@nhs.n
et 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 36

mailto:communications@tameside.gov.uk
mailto:communications@tameside.gov.uk
mailto:Icc.northwest@phe.gov.uk
mailto:england.gmtop@nhs.net
mailto:England.gmdental@nhs.net
mailto:England.gmdental@nhs.net


 
 

 

Appendix 6 – Other Supporting Documents 

 

Tameside Operational Local Health Economy 
Outbreak Plan 

 

National college of Policing guidance 
Coronavirus-Act-20

20-030420-public health assistance College of policing....pdf
 

Greater Manchester COVID-19 Outbreak Control 
Plan DRAFT GM 

COVID-19 Outbreak Control PlanV1.pdf
 

 

 

 

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



COVID Outbreak Management 

Plan

Health & Wellbeing Board

29 June 2020

P
age 39



The Principles

Supporting Local Outbreak Control Plans:

1. Be rooted in public health systems and leadership

2. Adopt a whole system approach 

3. Be delivered through an efficient and locally effective and responsive 
system including being informed by timely access to data and 
intelligence 

4. Be sufficiently resourced 

P
age 40



Outbreak Planning
• Building on existing systems and outbreak 

plans following the cycle of outbreak 

control

• Command & Control structures are well 

established

• Strong links and working practices are in 

place with GM and Public Health England

P
age 41



Wider Context
• Tameside is a beacon council as part of national pilot

• Our plan is iterative - continuing to develop from lessons 

learned

• GM plan is in draft – Tameside Plan closely aligns to this:

– Preventing Outbreaks

– Knowing what is happening in our communities

– Responding to Outbreaks

P
age 42



1. Preventing Outbreaks
• Communications & Engagement with our communities

• Testing everyone with symptoms

• Contact Tracing 

• Stringent Infection Control & appropriate supply and use of PPE

• Consequence Management to enable isolation and service 
continuity

• Good data that highlights any emerging issues

• Specific planning and risk assessments for high risk settings & 
groups (eg. schools & care homes) 

P
age 43



2. Knowing What is Happening in our 

Communities (Surveillance)
• Data from national Test & Trace and Joint Biosecurity Centre

• Developing more robust local, real-time data dashboards (Tameside & GM) 

• Local Data & Intelligence Cell collates reports into DPH-led Health Protection Board

• Enabling rapid identification of hotspots and local issues

• Evidence to support decision making; communications & engagement; and 
resource distribution

• Soft Intelligence is key – understanding and engaging with our communities

P
age 44



3. Responding to Outbreaks

• Clear Governance
– Health & Wellbeing Board; Health Protection Board; SCG; 

• Steps of Outbreak Management
– Defining and identifying outbreaks

– Outbreak Control Team

• Key Roles & Responsibilities
– PHE; GM hub; Local Authority (SPOC); infection control; local partners; 

settings; comms

P
age 45



Scenario Planning
• GM and local scenario planning sessions

• Learning:

– Questions and barriers to resolve

– Informing contents of SOPs and outbreak plans

• Real situations have been bespoke / complex

• Learning and planning will be ongoing

P
age 46



Scenarios

• Care Home

• Community

• School 

P
age 47



Communications StrategyP
age 48



Objectives
• Raise public awareness of the importance, especially in Tameside, to 

– Wash your hands regularly 

– Keep your social distance 

– Self-isolate if you have symptoms or are identified as a close contact

– Wear a face covering 

• To actively encourage our local communities and specific groups at risk of coronavirus to play 

their part in helping to control coronavirus by acting appropriately and taking action

• Ensure our businesses, schools and services across the borough feel supported, and 

employees, parents and customers feel confident that it is safe to reopen 

• Build confidence in a ‘safe Tameside’ that will enable us to work towards the ethos of 

building back better

P
age 49



• To actively strive to promote equality and fairness, and minimise the creation of 
further inequalities by targeting communications at and actively involving:
– Those most affected by the pandemic now, and at greatest risk of serious lasting impact in 

their lives, for example clinically vulnerable groups, BAME individuals, older people, those 
working in higher risk roles

– Those working with and supporting them for example MPs, members, VCSE sector, community 
groups etc

• Manage expectation and promote new ways of life as they become the ‘new 
normal’

• To harness the positive within the innovation of service delivery and improved 
behaviours we have seen as a direct result of the pandemic. And to build on that 
moving forwards, creating and encouraging new ways of working, accessing 
services and utilising new infrastructure that support active travel and a healthier 
environment for all.

P
age 50



Key Themes
Lifting Lockdown

• To build confidence and trust that we can build back safely as we move 
towards living with Covid and beyond, restarting economic and social lives 
while staying safe. 

Living with COVID

• Looking at the ‘new normal’ - new ways of living, working, accessing 
services and drawing on positive shifts in behaviours and innovation.

Building Back Better

• A principle which will build hope and will be applied to all elements of 
recovery

P
age 51



Our Approach
• National and regional materials will be used as they are official and we should 

encourage residents to trust and use these sources of information and guidance to 

avoid the spread of mis-information

• Use local data, knowledge and insight to target preventative messages

• COVID communications network/cell 

• Have our own campaign alongside national and regional materials 

– we can build on Tameside’s community spirit and use emotive messaging 

which is sometimes missing from national materials 

– We are talking directly to the people of Tameside giving relevance that this 

message is for them to encourage adherence to the process.

P
age 52



P
age 53



P
age 54



P
age 55



Reactive Communications
• Should we have an outbreak locally in Tameside of such a magnitude that there may 

be significant implications for routine services, additional resources are required or 

the public need to be alerted to specific messaging to keep them safe, the Director 

of Public Health may declare a major outbreak / incident and an outbreak control 

team will be set up to lead the response.

• Effective communications both internal and external will be crucial to supporting 

the management of any outbreak; ensuring accurate information is shared with 

staff, public and stakeholders; and that the risk of causing unnecessary alarm is 

minimised.  

P
age 56



Key Responsibilities
• Agreeing initial reactive statements following the detection of a detection and declaration of 

an incident/outbreak;

• Manage media interest - Briefing the Incident/Outbreak Control Team on levels of media 
interest and requests and facilitating 

• Risk and reputation management - Advising the Incident/Outbreak Control Team on issues 
relating to public information, especially in the communication of risk to minimise alarm and 
advise on media responses

• Briefing spokespeople - Helping to prepare and brief nominated spokespersons in advance of 
interviews and press conferences; 

• Proactive media releases - Developing and agreeing proactive media press releases as 
requested by the Incident/Outbreak Control Team;

• Situation reports - Ensuring comprehensive, accurate and timely communications with 
internal and external stakeholders;

• Leading the development of a media strategy if required

P
age 57



Discussion 

• How can Health & Wellbeing Board members 

engage and respond to support the local 

outbreak plan? 

• How can you contribute? 

P
age 58


	Agenda
	3. Minutes
	4. Local Outbreak Control Plan
	ITEM 4 - Local Outbreak Control Plan presentation


